IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

KENNETH YOUNGBLOOD, Appellant.

A.	Identity of Moving Party
B.	Relief Requested1
C.	Grounds for Review
D.	Statement of the Case
	Procedural Background1
	Factual Background
E.	Argument Why Review Should be Accepted
F.	Conclusion
	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
<u>Table</u>	of Cases
Person 56 P	nal Restraint of Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602, .3d 981 (2002)
Person 606-6	nal Restraint Petition of Heidari, 159 Wn.App. 601, 16, 248 P.3d 550 (2011)
State v 71, 7	<u>v. Camarillo</u> , 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)
State v 638,	7. <u>Delmater</u> , 94 Wn.2d 634, 618 P.2d 99 (1980)
State v 72 P	7. Gamble, 118 Wn.App. 332, .3d 1139 (2003)
	v. Gilbert, 68 Wn.App. 379, 87, 842 P.2d 1029 (1993)

RCW 10.61.003			
STATUTES			
<u>State v. Salinas</u> , 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)			
<u>State v. Green,</u> 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)			
<u>State v. Green, 91 Wn.2d 431,</u> 588 P.2d 1370 (1979)			

# A. Identity of Moving Party.

The State of Washington by and through Gerald R. Fuller, Interim Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County.

## B. Relief Requested.

The State of Washington asks that the Supreme Court of the State of Washington accept review of the decision in this matter reversing the conviction of the defendant for the crime of Manslaughter in the First Degree.

## C. Grounds for Review.

- 1. The decision of the Court of Appeals reversing the conviction of the defendant for alleged lack of proof beyond a reasonable doubt raises a significant question of law concerning the standard applied by the Court of Appeals.
- 2. The refusal of the Court of Appeals to consider whether there was evidence to support a conviction for the lesser degree of Manslaughter in the Second Degree raises a significant issue concerning the authority of the Court of Appeals to direct the verdict for a lesser included degree of the charged offense, an issue upon which there are conflicting Court of Appeal's decisions and upon which there is confusion in light of the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Green, 91 Wn.2d 431, 433-35, 588 P.2d 1370 (1979).

#### D. Statement of the Case.

# **Procedural Background**

The defendant was charged by Information on May 13, 2010, with Controlled Substance Homicide and Manslaughter in the First Degree. (CP 1-3). The controlled substance in question, Quetiapine (Seroquel), was not

a schedule I or II controlled substances. Accordingly, the charge of Controlled Substance Homicide was dismissed and the matter went to trial on the charge of Manslaughter in the First Degree. On August 24, 2011, the jury returned a verdict finding the defendant guilty of Manslaughter in the First Degree. Judgment and Sentence was entered on September 23, 2011. The defendant was sentenced to serve a term of confinement of 102 months in prison. (CP 4-11).

By unpublished opinion dated November 13, 2013, the Court of Appeals reversed the conviction of the defendant holding that there was insufficient evidence to establish that the defendant acted recklessly. The Court of Appeals held that there was insufficient evidence to establish that the defendant "knew of and disregarded a substantial risk" that providing the decedent with 10 to 12 Seroquel (Quetiapine) may cause the death of the decedent. The Court of Appeals noted that the record did not include the prescription bottle, Exhibit 1, that contained the warning label. The defendant did not include the exhibit in the record on appeal.

The Court of Appeals did not address the issue of whether there was evidence sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant acted with criminal negligence, the mental state necessary to establish the lesser degree offense of Manslaughter in the Second Degree.

A Motion for Reconsideration was filed asking the Court of Appeals to reconsider both its decision on the sufficiency of the evidence and its authority to direct a verdict for a lesser degree of the offense. By order of December 13, 2013, the Court denied the Motion for Reconsideration.

The defendant did not include the exhibits as part of the record.

The Court of Appeals by letter dated December 18, 2013, denied a request to supplement the record to include the pill bottle, Exhibit 1.

# **Factual Background**

On December 18, 2009, the decedent, Mark A. Davis, had been with his mother, Nancy Estergard. Ms. Estergard last saw her son when she dropped him off that day to attend the funeral of one of his friends who had committed suicide. Ms. Estergard stated that her son had been under stress because of the death of his friend. (RP 16).

On the morning of December 19, 2009, Aberdeen Police were dispatched to the residence of the defendant. Fire Department Paramedics had earlier been called. Mr. Adams was found, deceased, in the bathroom of the defendant's residence. (RP 22). Officers observed a number of prescription bottles throughout the house, one of which was the defendant's prescription for Seroquel (RP 39-40). The container was sitting next to the recliner on the night stand.

A post mortem examination was subsequently conducted by Emanuel Lacsina. Aside from a fatty liver, secondary to alcohol abuse, the decedent was "perfectly healthy." (RP 56-57). The defendant's blood alcohol level at the time of his death was 0.235/.230. Toxicology testing

yielded the presence of Quetiapine (Seroquel) at a level of 1.34 mg per liter.

Alcohol and the Seroquel are respiratory depressants. The combination of the two drugs caused Mr. Davis' death. (RP 57, 72). The level of Quetiapine found was in excess of therapeutic levels although the level found was not in and of itself fatal. Its combination with the alcohol consumed by the decedent caused the victim's death. (RP 72-73). The toxicologist could not say exactly how many pills the decedent ingested other than he most certainly took more than three. (RP 80-82).

Following his friend's funeral, Mr. Adams went to a local tavern. The bar maid noted that he was "buzzed" and cut him off. (RP 86). After closing time, the decedent met up with Emily Brisby, the defendant, and the defendant's daughter, Katherine Youngblood. They all made plans to go to an after hours party at the defendant's residence. (RP 104).

Once they arrived, witnesses observed that the decedent was distraught. (RP 107). The defendant offered Mr. Adams some pills. (RP 108). Ms Brisby recalls that the defendant told Mr. Adams that the pills would "calm him down." The defendant handed 10 to 20 pills to the decedent who then ingested them. (RP 108). She identified Exhibit 1 as the pill bottle that she saw in the defendant's possession at the time the pills were given to Mr. Adams. (RP 109). Ms. Brisby saw the decedent take the pills, washing them down with Black Velvet and Coca Cola. (RP 110).

Ms. Brisby observed that the decedent was "pretty intoxicated." (RP 115). When given the pills, the decedent asked "what are these?" The defendant told him to "just take them." (RP 126).

The decedent sat in the recliner for about 20 minutes. Later, Mr. Adams had to be helped to the bathroom. (RP 111). At this point, he was heavily sedated. He was unable to sit upright on the toilet. He fell over into the bathtub.

The decedent told Billie Jo Cornejo, who he saw at the bar, that he wanted to commit suicide. The decedent later repeated this to Katherine Youngblood and the defendant at the defendant's residence. (RP 112). When Emily Brisby told the defendant that she wanted to call 911, the defendant told her not to. (RP 113-120).

# E. Argument Why Review Should be Accepted.

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals reversing the conviction of the defendant for alleged lack of proof beyond a reasonable doubt raises a significant question of law concerning the standard applied by the Court of Appeals.

The question at hand is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 201. Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are deemed equally reliable and credibility determinations are for

the trier of fact. <u>State v. Delmater</u>, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980); <u>State v. Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

Quite simply, the Court of Appeals did not apply this standard to the facts of this case. The court held that the defendant could not have reasonably known that giving the decedent 10 to 20 pills of his prescription medication could cause the decedent's death. Finally, when it was finally brought to the court's attention that the record was not complete, the court denied a request to supplement the record.

In any event, the current record is sufficient to demonstrate the court's error. The pills were the defendant's prescription. He received a large number of pills which he ordered by mail (RP 146). The defendant certainly knew how the medication effected him. (RP 166). He told the decedent that the medication would "calm him down." The jury was entitled to determine, based upon this alone and their common experience, that a person of reasonable intelligence, such as the defendant, who had been taking the medication, would know the risks involved.

Furthermore, there is evidence from which the jury could have determined that the defendant acted with intent to assist the decedent in committing suicide. The defendant heard the decedent say that he wanted to die. The defendant intentionally gave the decedent a large amount of the pills. The defendant observed that the defendant was being severely effected by his ingestion of the pills. The defendant not only refused to get help for the decedent but told others that were present not to seek help.

The jury was instructed that they may rely upon their "common experience when analyzing the evidence presented." There isn't a person alive that doesn't know that prescription drugs have side effects and that taking prescription drugs in large amounts such as this may have an extreme side effect. There isn't a person of common intelligence who doesn't know that mixing prescription drugs and alcohol can cause death.

The Court of Appeals has substituted its opinion and analysis of the evidence for that of the jury. The decision of the Court of Appeals must be reversed. At a minimum, the matter should be remanded with direction to allow supplementation of the record and reconsideration of the opinion in light of the entire record.

2. In the alternative, this Court should either remand the matter to the trial court for entry of the Judgment of the lesser degree crime of Manslaughter in the Second Degree or remand this matter to the Court of Appeals directing that the court address the issue of sufficiency of the evidence for the lesser degree crime of Manslaughter in the Second Degree.

As stated above, there was ample evidence to support the jury's verdict and the jury's determination that the defendant acted recklessly. Even if this court disagrees, there is certainly ample evidence to find that this defendant acted with criminal negligence, the mental state necessary to establish the crime of Manslaughter in the Second Degree. The Court of Appeals has refused to consider whether there was proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant acted with criminal negligence. The Court of Appeals in this case has declined to address whether it has

authority to remand this matter to the trial court for entry of Judgment and Sentence on the lesser degree offense of Manslaughter in the Second Degree.

There is confusion on this issue and conflict between the reported cases. In State v. Gilbert, 68 Wn.App. 379, 384-87, 842 P.2d 1029 (1993) the defendant was charged with Burglary in the First Degree. The Court of Appeals, Division I, found that there was insufficient evidence to establish that an assault had occurred in the course of the burglary. The court directed that the matter be remanded to the trial court for entry of judgment on the lesser included offense of Residential Burglary even though the jury had not been instructed on that lesser offense. In addressing this issue, the Court of Appeals held as follows. Gilbert, 68 Wn.App. at P. 384-85.

We are aware of the Supreme Court's admonishment that "[i]n general, a remand for simple resentencing on a 'lesser included offense' is only permissible when the jury has been explicitly instructed thereon. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 234, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). However, that statement was dictum, and unsupported by any citation to authority. Nor has our research revealed any authority which supports that proposition. Logically, in fact, the dispositive issue should not be whether the jury was instructed on the lesser included offense, but rather whether the jury necessarily found each element of the lesser included offense in reaching its verdict on the crime charged.

We find no logical reason, when each element of the lesser included offense has been found, that the trial court's failure to instruct on the lesser included offense should prevent this court from directing the trial court to enter such a conviction. See State v.Plakke, 31 Wn. App. 262, 267, 639 P.2d 796 (1982), overruled on other grounds in State v. Davis, 35 Wn. App. 506, 667 P.2d 1117 (1983), aff'd, 101 Wn.2d 654, 682 P.2d 883 (1984).

State v. Brown, 50 Wn. App. 873, 878-79, 751 P.2d 331 (1988); accord, State v. Ellard, 46 Wn. App. 242, 730 P.2d 109 (1986), review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1011 (1987) where Division Two vacated convictions on two counts of first degree theft and remanded for sentencing on one count each of second and third degree theft based on insufficiency of the evidence for first degree theft.

In <u>State v. Gamble</u>, 118 Wn.App. 332, 72 P.3d 1139 (2003) the defendant's conviction for felony Murder in the Second Degree was reversed based upon the decision of the Supreme Court in <u>Personal</u> Restraint of Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002). Division II of the Court of Appeals directed that the matter be remanded to the trial court for entry of judgment of the lesser included offense of Manslaughter in the First Degree even though the jury was not instructed on that lesser offense.

In <u>Personal Restraint Petition of Heidari</u>, 159 Wn.App. 601, 606-616, 248 P.3d 550 (2001). Division I of the Court of Appeals reversed its holding in <u>Gilbert</u> and held that a matter may only be remanded for entry of judgment on a lesser included offense or a lesser degree offense if that offense was submitted to the jury for its consideration.

The Court of Appeals in Heidari has attributed this confusion to the language of the Supreme Court in State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Green was charged with Aggravated Murder in the First Degree. He initially challenged the prosecution alleging that the State had unfettered authority to charge either Aggravated Murder in the First Degree or felony Murder in the First Degree and that therefore, he was denied equal protection of the laws. The Supreme Court rejected this argument. State v. Green, 91 Wn.2d 431, 588 P.2d 1370 (1979).

In <u>Green</u> the aggravators were that the killing was committed in the course of and in furtherance of rape and/or kidnaping. Upon reconsideration, the court in <u>Green</u> held that there was insufficient evidence to support the alternative means alleged that the defendant had committed the crime in the course of kidnaping. The Supreme Court refused the State's request that the matter be remanded to the Superior Court for entry of Judgment on the crime of Murder in the First Degree stating as follows: <u>Green</u>, at p. 234-235, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

In the case at hand the jury was not instructed on the subject of a "lesser included offense." In general, a remand for simple resentencing on a "lesser included offense" is only permissible when the jury has been explicitly instructed thereon. Based upon the giving of such an instruction it has been held that the jury necessarily had to have disposed of the elements of the lesser included offense to have reached the verdict on the greater offense. See State v. Jones, 22 Wn. App 447, 454, 591 P.2d 796

(1979); State v. Martell, 22 Wn. App. 415, 419, 591 P.2d 789 (1979); State v. Liles, 11 Wn. App. 166, 171-73, 521 P.2d 973 (1974); see also People v. Codding, 191 Colo. 168, 551 P.2d 192 (1976); United States v. Thweatt, 433 F.2d 1226, 1234 (D.C. Cir. 1970); Austin v. United States, 382 F.2d 129 142 (D.C. Cir. 1967). In addition, it is clear a case may be remanded for resentencing on a "lesser included offense" only if the record discloses that the trier of fact expressly found each of the elements of the lesser offense. See State v. Jones, supra; see also State v. Jackson, 40 Ore. App. 759, 596 P.2d 600, 602 (1979). Obviously, there is no such clear disclosure in this record. We have previously determined there was insufficient evidence to support the kidnapping element and that it is impossible to know whether the jury determined unanimously that the element of rape had been established beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, we cannot say the jury found all the elements of the lesser included offense of first degree murder which is dependent upon proof of the crime of rape. Consequently, the cause cannot be remanded for sentencing on the lesser included offense of first degree murder. (emphasis supplied)

The above language, first of all, was only agreed upon by four justices of the Supreme Court. Secondly, the statement regarding the necessity of instructing on the lesser included offense of Murder in the First Degree is clearly dicta in light of the particular facts in <u>Green</u>. The court in <u>Green</u> determined that there was insufficient evidence to support the alternative means that the murder was committed in the course of the kidnaping. The court in <u>Green</u> also found that there was no way to determine on the record whether the jury was unanimous as to either of the

alternative means. Accordingly, under the circumstances, it was unable to determine that the jury unanimously found proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the killing was committed in the course of either the rape or the kidnaping. In short, the record did not that disclose the trier of fact, in reaching its verdict, unanimously found each of the elements of the lesser offense beyond a reasonable doubt. In light of these circumstances, any assertion by the court in <u>Green</u> that remand for resentencing on a lesser included offense is only permissible when the jury has been instructed on the lesser included offense is dicta.

The lead opinion in <u>Green</u> did get it right when it stated that a matter may be remanded for resentencing on a lesser included offense if the record discloses the trier of fact expressly found each of the elements of the lesser offense. <u>Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d at p. 234-235. That is clearly what happened here. By its verdict that the jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant acted recklessly. The jury necessarily determined, also, that the defendant acted with the lesser included mental state of criminal negligence. As pointed out by the court in <u>Green</u>, there was no such proof in the record in that case. <u>Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d at p. 235.

The Court of Appeals, Division I, has since held that the jury must be instructed on the lesser degree of the charged offense in order for the Court of Appeals to remand the matter for entry of judgment on a lesser included offense. Personal Restraint Petition of Heidari, 159 Wn.App. 601, 248 P.3d 550 (2011). In Heidari, the State conceded that there was

insufficient evidence to support a conviction for Child Molestation in the Second Degree due to insufficiency of the evidence concerning whether there had been sexual contact. The State asked that the court remand the matter to the trial court for entry of Judgment and Sentence for Attempt to Commit Child Molestation in the Second Degree. See RCW 10.61.003.

The decision in <u>Heidari</u> is clearly distinguishable from the State in case at hand. First of all, the court in <u>Heidari</u>, never set forth the facts.

There is no way to tell from a review of the decision in <u>Heidari</u>, whether or not there was evidence in the record to support an attempt to commit the crime of Child Molestation in the Second Degree and whether the jury, by its verdict, necessarily found that the defendant had also committed an attempt. An attempt requires an intent to commit the completed crime.

The insufficiency of the evidence in <u>Heidari</u> could have been either because there was no touching or because what touching there was could not be proven beyond a reasonable doubt to have been for sexual gratification. Under those circumstances, it is impossible to determine whether the trier of fact expressly found each of the elements of a lesser offense.

#### F. Conclusion.

The decision of the Court of Appeals must be reversed. This court should reinstate the verdict of the jury or remand for supplementation of the record and reconsideration based upon the entire record. In the

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