RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 16, 2014, 4:13 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RFCEIVED B

Supreme Court No. 89716-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

vs.

Kenneth Youngblood

Appellant/Respondent

Grays Harbor County Superior Court Cause No. 10-1-00185-1

The Honorable Judge David Edwards

ANSWER TO PETITION

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Respondent

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

A. Statement of Additional Issues

Although the Court of Appeals ruled in Mr. Youngblood's favor, it

declined to reach three other issues. If this court accepts review, it should also

review the following issues, which Mr. Youngblood raised in his Opening

Brief:

ISSUE 1: Due process requires that jury instructions properly outline the burden of proof in a criminal trial. Here, the trial court used a nonstandard instruction, omitting language that the accused person has no burden to establish that a reasonable doubt exists. Did the trial court's nonstandard instruction infringe Mr. Youngblood's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3?

ISSUE 2: To obtain a conviction for first-degree manslaughter, the prosecution was required to prove that Mr. Youngblood had actual knowledge that ingesting Seroquel and alcohol created a

substantial risk of death. The prosecution produced no evidence showing that Mr. Youngblood had the capacity to understand the risk of mixing Seroquel and alcohol, due to his mental illness and intoxication. Did the conviction violate Mr. Youngblood's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence was insufficient to prove recklessness?

ISSUE 3: To obtain a conviction for first-degree manslaughter, the prosecution was required to prove that Mr. Youngblood caused the death of Mark Davis. Here, Mr. Youngblood allegedly provided Seroquel pills to Mr. Davis, who voluntarily ingested them. Did the conviction violate Mr. Youngblood's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence was insufficient to prove the essential element of causation?

- B. Argument why the Supreme Court should accept review of additional issues.
 - 1. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the trial court's nonstandard reasonable doubt instruction infringed Mr. Youngblood's right to due process. This case presents a significant issue of constitutional law that is of substantial public interest and should be decided by the Supreme Court. In addition, the Courts of Appeal have issued conflicting opinions relating to the issue. RAP 13.4(b)(2)-(4).

The Fourteenth Amendment provides that no state shall "deprive

any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." U.S.

Const. Amend. XIV. The state constitution provides similar protection.

Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. In a criminal prosecution, due process requires the

government to prove each element of the charged crime beyond a

reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d

368 (1970). The accused person "has no burden to present evidence." *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 598, 183 P.3d 267 (2008).

The Washington Supreme Court has exercised its "inherent supervisory authority to instruct Washington trial courts to use *only* the approved pattern instruction WPIC 4.01 to instruct juries that the government has the burden of proving every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 318, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007) (emphasis added). The court noted that "every effort to improve or enhance the standard approved instruction necessarily... shifts, perhaps ever so slightly, the emphasis of the instruction." *Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d at 317.

In addition, a nonstandard instruction that fails to properly instruct on the burden of proof is "a grievous constitutional failure." *State v. McHenry*, 88 Wn.2d 211, 214, 558 P.2d 188 (1977). Such an instruction violates due process, and requires reversal if the accused person was denied a fair trial "in light of the totality of the circumstances--including all the instructions to the jury, the arguments of counsel, whether the weight of the evidence was overwhelming, and other relevant factors..." *Kentucky v. Whorton*, 441 U.S. 786, 789, 99 S.Ct. 2088, 60 L.Ed.2d 640 (1979) (citing *Taylor v. Kentucky*, 436 U.S. 478, 98 S.Ct. 1930, 56

6

L.Ed.2d 468 (1978)); see also Matter of Lile, 100 Wn.2d 224, 228, 668

P.2d 581 (1983) (adopting the Whorton standard under art. I, § 3).

The *Bennett* court disapproved an instruction known as the *Castle* instruction,⁴ concluding that it passed constitutional muster but was not helpful. *Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d at 315-318. Instead, the Supreme Court exercised its supervisory authority and ordered trial courts to use the pattern instruction, which reads (in relevant part) as follows:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of each crime charged. The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of each crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.*

WPIC 4.01 (emphasis added) (certain bracketed materials omitted).

Division I has held that failure to use WPIC 4.01 requires reversal, unless the instruction used in its place is an improvement upon WPIC 4.01. *State v. Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. 466, 472-473, 208 P.3d 1201 (2009). By contrast, Division II has held that failure to use WPIC 4.01 is subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. 865, 870-871, 256 P.3d 466 (2011).⁵ In *Lundy*, the trial court used a modified instruction,

⁴ State v. Castle, 86 Wn. App. 48, 935 P.2d 656 (1997).

⁵ A recent decision noted *Bennett* 's holding that the *Castle* instruction is not constitutionally deficient. *State v. Jimenez-Macias*, ____ Wn. App. ___, ___, 286 P.3d 1022 (2012). The *Jiminez-Macias* court erroneously suggested that *Lundy* addressed "a *Castle* instructional error." *Jiminez-Macias*, ____ Wn. App. at _____. This is not quite correct: the instruction at issue in *Lundy* was not a *Castle* instruction; instead, the *Lundy* court found harmless a version of WPIC 4.01 that "modified the WPIC by reversing the order of the first two

which differed only slightly from the pattern instruction. *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. at 870-71. The *Lundy* court found that the instruction correctly communicated the standards set forth in WPIC 4.01:

[The instruction] emphasized the presumption of innocence... Furthermore, [it] accurately described the State's burden of proof by clearly instructing the jury that the State must prove each element of the crimes charged beyond a reasonable doubt *and that the defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.*

Id, at 873 (emphasis added).

In contrast to Lundy, the trial court's instruction outlining the

burden of proof in this case failed to explicitly tell jurors that Mr.

Youngblood had "no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists."

See CP 20; cf WPIC 4.01. The deficiency was not remedied elsewhere in

the court's instructions. See CP 17-23.

Unlike the instructions in *Bennett* and *Lundy*, Instruction No. 3 provided an incomplete statement regarding the burden of proof by neglecting to tell jurors that the accused person had no burden. In other words, Instruction No. 3 did not make the relevant standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). The effect of this was to leave open the possibility that

paragraphs and modifying the first three sentences of the paragraph on the State's burden of proof." *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App.at 871. The instruction in *Lundy* did not contain the offending *Castle* language at issue in *Bennett*; nor did it omit the sentence missing from the instruction in this case. *Id.*

Mr. Youngblood had the burden of raising a reasonable doubt. The instruction that persuaded Division I to reverse in *Castillo* was characterized by this same omission.⁶ *Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. at 473.

The nonstandard instruction used by the trial court in this case is not the "simple, accepted, and uniform instruction" adopted by the Supreme Court. *Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d at 318. Instead, by leaving out required language, Instruction No. 3 "shifts, perhaps ever so slightly, the emphasis of the instruction." *Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d at 318. The omission of an important component of the burden of proof created a manifest error affecting Mr. Youngblood's right to due process under the state and federal constitutions. Accordingly, the error may be raised for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3).⁷

Under *Castillo*, the error here would require automatic reversal. The *Castillo* court reasoned that the Supreme Court's clear and unambiguous directive did not allow for any exceptions. *Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. at 472-473. In Division I, the only nonstandard version of WPIC 4.01 that could survive analysis under *Bennett* would be one that improves upon the pattern instruction. *Id*, *at* 473. The court concluded

⁶ The instruction in that case suffered from other flaws as well.

⁷ Furthermore, even if not "manifest," the error is significant, and the court should exercise discretion to review its merits. *State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

that the error here is sufficient to require reversal because it is not an improvement on the standard instruction:

The omission of the last sentence of WPIC 4.01 from the given instruction alone warrants the conclusion that Instruction No. 3 is not better than the WPIC.

Id.

In Division II, however, an erroneous instruction on the burden of proof is subject to harmless error analysis under the stringent test for constitutional error. *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. at 872. Constitutional error is presumed prejudicial, and the state bears the burden of proving harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 886, 246 P.3d 796 (2011); *City of Bellevue v. Lorang*, 140 Wn.2d 19, 32, 992 P.2d 496 (2000). To overcome the presumption, the state must establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was trivial, formal, or merely academic, that it did not prejudice the accused, and that it in no way affected the final outcome of the case. *Lorang*, 140 Wn.2d at 32. Reversal is required unless the state can prove that any reasonable factfinder would reach the same result absent the error and that the untainted evidence is so overwhelming it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 222, 181 P.3d 1 (2008).

The error here is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. First, the error was not "trivial, formal, or merely academic." *Lorang*, 140 Wn.2d at 32. The instruction omitted an essential component of the burden of proof: the rule that an accused person need not raise a reasonable doubt in order to be acquitted. CP 20. Because the burden of proof forms part of the bedrock upon which the entire criminal justice system rests, errors in communicating the standard will seldom, if ever, be considered harmless.

Second, there is at least some possibility that the deficient instruction prejudiced Mr. Youngblood and affected the final outcome of the case. *Lorang*, 140 Wn.2d at 32. Mr. Youngblood's primary defense involved diminished capacity and/or voluntary intoxication: his attorney argued to jurors that he did not know of and disregard a substantial risk that Davis would die after ingesting Seroquel and alcohol. RP 195-216, 228-242. As a result of the erroneous instruction, jurors likely believed that Mr. Youngblood bore the burden of raising a reasonable doubt (for example through the expert testimony of Dr. Trowbridge). *See* RP 195-216.

Third, a reasonable factfinder could have concluded that Mr. Youngblood did not appreciate the risk that Davis might die from an overdose of Seroquel. Dr. Trowbridge testified that Mr. Youngblood was unable to understand and appreciate the risk that Davis would die. RP 203-204, 206-207, 214-215. The prosecution expert did not provide an

11

opinion as to Mr. Youngblood's ability to understand and appreciate the risk that Davis would die.⁸ RP 172-188. There was evidence that Mr. Youngblood had consumed similar amounts of Seroquel and alcohol in the past without harmful effects. RP 113, 127. His daughter testified that Mr. Youngblood poured the pills into Davis's palm so that Davis could count out the number of tablets he wanted to take, and that Mr. Youngblood had not anticipated that Davis would take all of the pills. RP 140-141, 150-151. Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that the evidence of recklessness was so overwhelming that it necessarily lead to a finding of guilt. *Burke*163 Wn.2d 204.

Fourth, a reasonable jury could have concluded that Mr. Youngblood did not cause Davis's death. Davis himself was the instrument of his own overdose; Mr. Youngblood did not force the pills down Davis's throat. RP 110, 125-126. Thus it cannot be said that the evidence was overwhelming on the element of causation. *Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204.

For all these reasons, the state cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was trivial, formal, or merely academic, that it did not

⁸ Instead, her testimony reflected a lack of understanding of the legal concepts involved: the focus of her testimony was on whether or not Mr. Youngblood had the capacity to be reckless in the abstract. When asked about issues pertaining to his understanding and appreciation of the risks in this case, she acknowledged, for example, that alcohol can impair a person's ability to assess risk. RP 181.

prejudice the accused, and that it in no way affected the final outcome of

the case. Lorang, 140 Wn.2d at 32.

If the Supreme Court accepts review of any issue raised in the Petition, it should also accept review of this issue. RAP 13.4(b)(2)-(4). Mr. Youngblood's conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

 The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that Mr. Youngblood's conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence was insufficient to prove recklessness and causation. This case raises significant constitutional issues that are of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires the state to prove every element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364. The remedy for a conviction based on insufficient evidence is reversal and dismissal with prejudice. *Smalis v. Pennsylvania*, 476 U.S. 140, 144, 106 S.Ct. 1745, 90 L.Ed.2d 116 (1986).

a) The prosecution failed to prove recklessness.

To convict Mr. Youngblood of first-degree manslaughter, the

prosecution was required to prove that he recklessly caused Davis's death.

RCW 9A.32.060(1). In a manslaughter case, a person acts recklessly

when s/he "knows of and disregards a substantial risk that a [death] may

occur and his or her disregard of such substantial risk is a gross deviation from conduct that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation." RCW 9A.08.010; *State v. Peters*, 163 Wn. App. 836, 838, 261 P.3d 199 (2011). Recklessness therefore requires proof of both subjective and objective components: "[w]hether an act is reckless depends on both what the defendant knew and how a reasonable person would have acted knowing these facts." *State v. R.H.S.*, 94 Wn. App. 844, 847, 974 P.2d 1253 (1999).

In this case, there is no proof that Mr. Youngblood had the capacity to understand the risks involved in mixing alcohol and Seroquel. As Dr. Trowbridge testified, Mr. Youngblood's ability to understand and appreciate the risk was diminished because of his mental health issues and his consumption of alcohol. RP 203, 207, 214. The state's expert did not actually undermine this testimony. Dr. Knopp testified that Mr. Youngblood had some capacity to act intentionally and/or knowingly, based on her review of his actions as reflected in the incident reports. RP 172-188. While it is true that intentional or knowing conduct can establish recklessness,⁹ the abstract capacity for intentional or knowing conduct does not establish the capacity to understand a particular risk.

⁹ See RCW 9A.08.010(2): When recklessness is an element of an offense, "such element also is established if a person acts intentionally or knowingly."

Mr. Youngblood's ability to understand simple facts and intentionally perform straightforward actions¹⁰ does not prove that he had the capacity to understand something more complex and less concrete, such as the degree of risk posed by combining Seroquel and alcohol. Indeed, even Dr. Kopp testified that alcohol can impair the ability to assess risk. RP 181. Her observation that Mr. Youngblood was basically coherent shed no light on his ability to understand and appreciate the specific risk at issue here, and certainly did not rebut Dr. Trowbridge's testimony.

Absent proof that Mr. Youngblood could understand the risk posed by combining Seroquel and alcohol, the evidence was insufficient to prove recklessness. Accordingly, his conviction must be reversed and the case dismissed with prejudice. *Smalis*, 476 U.S. at 144.

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